No. 1982-167

AN ACT

HB 2362

Amending Title 32 (Forests, Waters and State Parks) of the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes, adding provisions relating to water resources projects.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE 32 FORESTS, WATERS AND STATE PARKS

PART IV. WATER RESOURCES PROJECTS

- Chapter 71. General Provisions (Reserved)
- Chapter 73. Hydroelectric Facilities (Reserved)
- Chapter 75. Water Facilities Restoration
- § 7501. Short title of chapter.
- § 7502. Definitions.
- § 7503. Legislative findings and purposes.
- § 7504. Water Facilities Loan Board.
- § 7505. Powers of board.
- § 7506. Water Facilities Advisory Committee.
- § 7507. Borrowing authorized.
- § 7508. Sale of bonds.
- § 7509. Debt retirement.
- § 7510. Apportionment and appropriation of funds.
- § 7511. Limits on project funding.
- § 7512. Costs eligible for loan financing.
- § 7513. Planning consultation and prefeasibility assessments.
- § 7514. Application requirements and criteria for obtaining loan.
- § 7515. Priorities for loans.
- § 7516. Implementation of project.
- § 7517. Supervision of project and security from default.
- § 7518. Expedited approval of rate relief.

The General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania hereby enacts as follows:

Section 1. Title 32, act of November 25, 1970 (P.L.707, No.230), known as the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes, is amended by adding a part to read:

TITLE 32 FORESTS. WATERS AND STATE PARKS

Part

IV. Water Resources Projects

PART IV WATER RESOURCES PROJECTS

Chapter

- 71. General Provisions (Reserved)
- 73. Hydroelectric Facilities (Reserved)
- 75. Water Facilities Restoration

CHAPTER 71 GENERAL PROVISIONS (Reserved)

CHAPTER 73 HYDROELECTRIC FACILITIES (Reserved)

CHAPTER 75 WATER FACILITIES RESTORATION

- 7501. Short title of chapter.
- 7502. Definitions.
- 7503. Legislative findings and purposes.
- 7504. Water Facilities Loan Board.
- 7505. Powers of board.
- 7506. Water Facilities Advisory Committee.
- 7507. Borrowing authorized.
- 7508. Sale of bonds.
- 7509. Debt retirement.
- 7510. Apportionment and appropriation of funds.
- 7511. Limits on project funding.
- 7512. Costs eligible for loan financing.
- 7513. Planning consultation and prefeasibility assessments.
- 7514. Application requirements and criteria for obtaining loan.
- 7515. Priorities for loans.
- 7516. Implementation of project.
- 7517. Supervision of project and security from default.
- 7518. Expedited approval of rate relief.

§ 7501. Short title of chapter.

This chapter shall be known and may be cited as the "Water Facilities Restoration Act."

§ 7502. Definitions.

The following words and phrases when used in this chapter shall have, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the meanings given to them in this section:

"Board." The Water Facilities Loan Board established by this chapter.

"Community water supply system." A system for the provision to the public of piped water for human consumption which serves at least 15 service connections used by year-round residents or regularly serves at least 25 year-round residents. A community water supply system includes water supply dams, reservoirs or other sources and any collection, treatment, storage or distribution facilities.

"Department." The particular department serving as staff to the board in accordance with section 7504 (relating to Water Facilities Loan Board).

"Flood control facility." Structural or nonstructural projects and measures to correct, prevent or reduce flood damages including, but not limited to, dams, dikes, other flood control works, floodproofing and storm water management projects.

"Issuing officials." The Governor, the Auditor General and the State Treasurer.

"Municipality." A city, borough, incorporated town, township, county or municipal authority.

"Notes." Temporary obligations issued by the Commonwealth pursuant to this chapter in anticipation of bonds, and shall include renewal notes.

"Port facility." A facility which enhances interstate or international commerce upon tidal and inland waters of this Commonwealth. The term includes all piers, wharves, docks and similar structures to which vessels may be secured, buildings on or contiguous to them and equipment and materials essential to the use of the structures and buildings for shipping and commerce.

"Project." The combined eligible costs contained in a loan application which the board has determined to be eligible for loan financing under section 7514 (relating to application requirements and criteria for obtaining loan).

"Renewal notes." Notes, the net proceeds of which are used to pay principal, accrued interest and premium, if any, of previously issued notes or renewal notes, and which evidence the same temporary borrowing of the Commonwealth as the notes or renewal notes replaced.

"Water facility." A community water supply system, flood control facility, dam facility or port facility.

§ 7503. Legislative findings and purposes.

The General Assembly finds and declares that:

- (1) The health, safety and welfare of the citizens of this Commonwealth and the economic development, employment, agriculture, industry, environmental quality and government of the entire Commonwealth are and will continue to be vitally affected by the adequacy, safety and effectiveness of dam and reservoir, water supply, flood control and port facilities throughout this Commonwealth.
- (2) Many community water supply systems, flood control facilities and port facilities have experienced severe difficulties complying with State and Federal health and safety standards and are not adequate to serve effectively the present and future needs of the people of this Commonwealth.

- (3) Adequate financing of necessary repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation and improvement projects is not available at present through existing financial arrangements under terms and conditions which would enable the projects to be implemented.
- (4) The Commonwealth should act to assist municipalities and the owners and operators of community water supply systems, flood control facilities and port facilities in the planning, financing and implementation of repair, construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, extension and improvement projects.
- (5) For these reasons and for this purpose, the voters of this Commonwealth approved by referendum on November 3, 1981 the incurring of indebtedness of \$300,000,000 through the sale of general obligation bonds by the Commonwealth for loans to provide for these projects.
- § 7504. Water Facilities Loan Board.
- (a) Creation.—The Water Facilities Loan Board is hereby created as a departmental administrative board in the Department of Environmental Resources.
- (b) Membership.—The board shall be composed of the following: the Secretary of Environmental Resources, who shall serve as chairman, the Secretary of Commerce, the Secretary of Community Affairs, the Secretary of General Services, the Secretary of Transportation, the Secretary of the Budget, the Chairman of the Public Utility Commission, two Senators, appointed by the President pro tempore, one from the majority party and one from the minority party, and two members of the House of Representatives, appointed by the Speaker, one from the majority party and one from the minority party. Each member may appoint an alternate to serve on the board and perform the duties of a member in his absence.
- (c) Quorum.—A quorum for the conduct of business shall be at least five members of the board or their alternates.
 - (d) Staff services.—Except as otherwise provided in this chapter:
 - (1) The Department of Environmental Resources shall provide technical, financial, legal and other staff services necessary to carry out the work of the board with respect to community water supply systems and flood control facilities.
 - (2) The Department of Transportation shall provide technical, financial, legal and other staff services necessary to carry out the work of the board with respect to port facilities.
 - (3) Such other State agencies as may be appropriate may be called upon to provide services as deemed necessary.
- (e) Termination.—The board shall expire one year after the funds for the loans have been disbursed at which time its powers and duties with respect to community water supply systems and flood control facilities shall be transferred to the Department of Environmental Resources and with respect to port facilities shall be transferred to the Department of Transportation.

Act 1982-167 581

§ 7505. Powers of board.

SESSION OF 1982

The board shall have the power:

- (1) To make and alter bylaws for the management of its affairs.
- (2) To enter into contracts of all kinds and to execute all instruments necessary or convenient for carrying out its operations.
- (3) To accept grants, subsidies and loans from and enter into agreements or other transactions with any Federal or Commonwealth agency.
- (4) To be a party to any action in any court concerning matters affecting the board, except that no provisions of this chapter shall constitute a waiver of sovereign immunity except as provided in Chapter 85 of Title 42 (relating to matters affecting government units).
- (5) To make loans for the repair, construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation, extension and improvement of community water supply systems and for the repair, reconstruction or rehabilitation of flood control facilities, dams and port facilities in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.
- (6) To adopt administrative procedures relating to the processing of loan applications necessary for implementing the provisions of this chapter.
- (7) To cooperate with Federal, Commonwealth and local agencies and interstate river basin commissions in order to accomplish the purposes of this chapter as expeditiously as possible.
- (8) To acquire or take title by foreclosure to any real or personal property which has been pledged as security for a loan granted by the board, and which has been defaulted, and to operate or dispose of the property in accordance with section 7517 (relating to supervision of project and security from default). All costs arising out of the foreclosure, acquisition or operation shall be paid from the Water Facilities Loan Fund. All proceeds or revenues resulting from foreclosure, acquisition or operation of the property shall be deposited in the Water Facilities Loan Fund. All proceeds or revenues resulting from the sale, lease or disposal of the property shall be deposited in the Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund for the purchase or retirement of bonds and payment of interest and premium if any.
- (9) To make reimbursement to the department or to any agency of the Commonwealth for administrative expenses incurred in the provision of services in connection with the performance of duties under this chapter.
- (10) To adopt and, from time to time, amend and repeal rules and regulations to carry out the provisions of this chapter.
- (11) To do all other things necessary and convenient to carry out the purposes and provisions of this chapter.
- § 7506. Water Facilities Advisory Committee.
- (a) Membership.—The Water Facilities Advisory Committee shall be composed of not more than 15 members who shall be appointed by the Secretary of Environmental Resources. The members appointed to the

committee shall include representatives of local government, municipal authorities, industry and commerce, agriculture, labor, water supply operators, banking and financial institutions, construction industry, port and transportation interests, engineering and related professionals, citizen and consumer groups, conservation and environmental organizations and such other agencies and interests as are deemed appropriate to provide balanced advice. The secretary shall seek suggestions and nominations for membership on the committee from appropriate officials, agencies and organizations which represent those interests. Appointments to the committee shall be made within 60 days of the effective date of this chapter.

- (b) Compensation and expenses.—The members of the committee shall serve without compensation and may be reimbursed for necessary expenses incurred in connection with the performance of their duties as members.
 - (c) Duties.—The committee shall:
 - (1) Assist and advise the Water Facilities Loan Board.
 - (2) Review proposed regulations, procedures and criteria prior to adoption.
 - (3) Review periodically the operation of the program.
 - (4) Make recommendations for necessary improvements.
 - (5) Annually elect one of its members as chairman.
- (d) Chairman to act as liaison.—The chairman of the committee shall serve as liaison to the Water Facilities Loan Board and have the right to participate in discussions of the board but shall have no vote in proceedings of the board.
- (e) Termination.—The committee shall expire at the time the Water Facilities Loan Board expires.
- § 7507. Borrowing authorized.
- (a) Aggregate limitation.—Pursuant to the provisions of section 7(a)(3) of Article VIII of the Constitution of Pennsylvania and the referendum approved by the electorate on November 3, 1981, the issuing officials are authorized and directed to borrow, on the credit of the Commonwealth, bonds not exceeding in the aggregate the sum of \$300,000,000, not including refunding bonds, as may be found necessary to carry out the purposes of this chapter.
- (b) Authorization to issue notes.—Pending the issuance of bonds of the Commonwealth as authorized in this chapter, the issuing officials are authorized in accordance with this chapter and on the credit of the Commonwealth to make temporary borrowing not to exceed three years in anticipation of the issue of bonds with the latest stated maturity date to be set forth in the notes, in order to provide funds in such amounts as may from time to time be deemed advisable to carry out the purposes of this chapter prior to the issue of bonds. In order to provide for and in connection with such temporary borrowings, the issuing officials are authorized in the name and on behalf of the Commonwealth to enter into any loan or credit agreement or agreements or other agreements with any

Act 1982-167

583

banks or trust companies or other lending institutions or persons in the United States having power to enter into them, which agreements may contain such provisions not inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter as may be customary in such instruments and as may be authorized by the issuing officials.

- (c) Issuance of notes and renewal notes.—All temporary borrowings made under the authorization of this section shall be evidenced by notes of the Commonwealth, which shall be issued from time to time for such amounts that together with the notes outstanding and bonds issued pursuant to this chapter do not exceed \$300,000,000, in such form and in such denominations, and subject to such terms and conditions of sale and issue, renewal, prepayment or redemption and maturity, rate or rates of interest and time of payment of interests, as the issuing officials shall direct and in accordance with this chapter. Such direction may provide for the subsequent issuance of the notes (referred to as "renewal notes") to refund the notes or renewal notes, which renewal notes shall. upon issuance thereof, evidence the borrowing, and may specify such other terms and conditions with respect to the notes and renewal notes thereby authorized for issuance as the issuing officials may determine and direct. Any issue of renewal notes may be in a principal amount sufficient to repay the principal of and accrued interest on, if any, the issue or issues of notes being refunded and to pay the financial costs relating to the renewal notes.
- (d) Funding bonds.—Outstanding notes evidencing the borrowings may be funded and retired by the issuance and sale of the bonds of the Commonwealth as authorized in this chapter. The funding bonds must be issued and sold not later than a date three years after the date of the issuance of the first notes evidencing the borrowings to the extent that payment of the notes has not otherwise been made or provided for by sources other than proceeds of renewal notes.
- (e) Issuance of general obligation bonds.—As evidence of the indebtedness authorized in this chapter, general obligation bonds of the Commonwealth shall be issued from time to time to fund and retire notes issued pursuant to this chapter (referred to as "funding bonds") or to provide moneys necessary to carry out the purposes of this chapter, or both, for such total amounts, in such form, in such denominations and subject to such terms and conditions of issue, redemption and maturity, rate of interest and time of payment of interest as the issuing officials direct except that the latest stated maturity date shall not exceed 30 years from the date of the debt first issued for each series.
- (f) Execution of bonds.—All bonds and notes issued under the authority of this chapter shall bear facsimile signatures of the issuing officials and a facsimile of the great seal of the Commonwealth and shall be countersigned by a duly authorized officer of a duly authorized loan and transfer agent of the Commonwealth.
- (g) Direct obligation of Commonwealth.—All bonds and notes issued in accordance with the provisions of this section shall be direct

obligations of the Commonwealth and the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth are hereby pledged for the payment of the interest thereon as it becomes due and the payment of the principal at maturity. The principal of and interest on the bonds and notes shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America.

- (h) Exemption from taxation.—All bonds and notes issued under the provisions of this section shall be exempt from taxation for State and local purposes.
- (i) Form of bonds.—The bonds may be issued as coupon bonds or registered as to both principal and interest as the issuing officials may determine. If interest coupons are attached, they shall contain the facsimile signature of the State Treasurer.
- (j) Bond amortization.—The issuing officials shall provide for the amortization of the bonds in substantial and regular amounts over the term of the debt. The first retirement of principal shall be stated to mature prior to the expiration of a period of time equal to one-tenth of the time from the date of the first obligation issued to evidence the debt to the date of the expiration of the term of the debt. Retirements of principal shall be regular and substantial if made in annual or semiannual amounts whether by stated serial maturities or by mandatory sinking fund retirements.
- (k) Refunding bonds.—The issuing officials are authorized to provide, by resolution, for the issuance of refunding bonds for the purpose of refunding any bonds issued under the provisions of this chapter and then outstanding, either by voluntary exchange with the holders of the outstanding bonds, or to provide funds to redeem and retire the outstanding bonds with accrued interest, any premium payable thereon and the costs of issuance and retirement of bonds, at maturity or at any call date. The issuance of the refunding bonds, the maturities and other details thereof, the rights of the holders thereof and the duties of the issuing officials in respect to the same shall be governed by the provisions of this section, insofar as they may be applicable. Refunding bonds, which are not subject to the aggregate limitation of \$300,000,000 of bonds to be issued pursuant to this chapter, may be issued by the issuing officials to refund bonds originally issued or to refund bonds previously issued for refunding purposes.
- (1) Quorum.—Whenever any action is to be taken or decision made by the Governor, the Auditor General and the State Treasurer acting as issuing officials and the three officers are not able unanimously to agree, the action or decision of the Governor and either the Auditor General or State Treasurer shall be binding and final.
- § 7508. Sale of bonds.
- (a) Public sale.—Whenever bonds are issued, they shall be offered for sale at not less than 98% of the principal amount and accrued interest and shall be sold by the issuing officials to the highest and best bidder or bidders after due public advertisement on such terms and conditions and upon such open competitive bidding as the issuing officials shall direct.

The manner and character of the advertisement and the time of advertising shall be prescribed by the issuing officials.

- (b) Private sale.—Any portion of any bond issue so offered and not sold or subscribed for may be disposed of by private sale by the issuing officials in such manner and at such prices, not less than 98% of the principal amount and accrued interest, as the Governor shall direct. No commission shall be allowed or paid for the sale of any bonds issued under the authority of this chapter.
- (c) Bond series.—When bonds are issued from time to time, the bonds of each issue shall constitute a separate series to be designated by the issuing officials or may be combined for sale as one series with other general obligation bonds of the Commonwealth.
- (d) Temporary bonds.—Until permanent bonds can be prepared, the issuing officials may in their discretion issue in lieu of permanent bonds temporary bonds in such form and with such privileges as to registration and exchange for permanent bonds as may be determined by the issuing officials.
- (e) Disposition and use of proceeds.—The proceeds realized from the sale of bonds and notes, except funding bonds, refunding bonds and renewal notes, under the provisions of this chapter shall be paid into a special fund in the State Treasury to be known as the "Water Facilities Loan Fund" and are specifically dedicated to the purposes of the referendum of November 3, 1981 as implemented by this chapter. The proceeds shall be paid by the State Treasurer periodically to those departments, agencies or authorities authorized to expend them at such times and in such amounts as may be necessary to satisfy the funding needs of the department, agency or authority. The proceeds of the sale of funding bonds, refunding bonds and renewal notes shall be paid to the State Treasurer and applied to the payment of principal of, the accrued interest and premium, if any, and costs of redemption of the bonds and notes for which such obligations shall have been issued.
- (f) Investment of funds.—Pending their application to the purposes authorized, moneys held or deposited by the State Treasurer may be invested or reinvested as are other funds in the custody of the State Treasurer in the manner provided by law. All earnings received from the investment or deposit of such funds shall be paid into the State Treasury to the credit of the Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund.
- (g) Registration of bonds.—The Auditor General shall prepare the necessary registry book to be kept in the office of the duly authorized loan and transfer agent of the Commonwealth for the registration of any bonds, at the request of owners thereof, according to the terms and conditions of issue directed by the issuing officials.
- (h) Expenses of preparation for issue and sale of bonds and notes.— There is hereby appropriated to the State Treasurer from the proceeds of the bonds and notes issued as much money as may be necessary for all costs and expenses in connection with the issue of and sale and registration of the bonds and notes in connection with this chapter.

§ 7509. Debt retirement.

- (a) Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund.—All bonds issued under the authority of this chapter shall be redeemed at maturity and all interest due from time to time on the bonds shall be paid from a special fund to be known as the "Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund." For the specific purpose of redeeming the bonds at maturity and paying all interest thereon in accordance with the information received from the Governor, the General Assembly shall appropriate moneys to the Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund for the payment of interest on the bonds and the principal thereof at maturity. All moneys paid into the Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund and all of the moneys not necessary to pay accruing interest shall be invested by the Treasury Department in such securities as are provided by law for the investment of the sinking funds of the Commonwealth.
- (b) Purchase of bonds.—The board, with the approval of the Governor, is authorized at any time to use any of the moneys in the Water Facilities Loan Fund not necessary for the purposes of the referendum of November 3, 1981 for the purchase and retirement of all or any part of the bonds and notes issued the authority of this chapter. In the event that all or any part of the bonds and notes are purchased by the board, they shall be canceled and returned to the loan and transfer agent as canceled and paid bonds and notes and thereafter all payments of interest thereon shall cease and the canceled bonds, notes and coupons shall be destroyed within two years after cancellation in the presence of the issuing officials or their designees, and a certificate evidencing the destruction, satisfactory to the duly authorized loan and transfer agent of the Commonwealth shall be furnished to it. All canceled bonds, notes and coupons shall be so marked as to make the canceled bonds, notes and coupons nonnegotiable.
- (c) Reporting requirements.—The State Treasurer shall determine and report to the Secretary of the Budget by November of each year the amount of money necessary for the payment of interest on outstanding obligations and the principal of the obligations, if any, for the following fiscal year and the times and amounts of the payments. It shall be the duty of the Governor to include in every budget submitted to the General Assembly full information relating to the issuance of bonds and notes under the provisions of this chapter and the status of the sinking fund of the Commonwealth for the payment of the interest on the bonds and notes and the principal thereof at maturity.
- (d) Debt service appropriations.—The General Assembly shall appropriate an amount equal to moneys as may be necessary to meet repayment obligations for principal and interest into the Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund.
- (e) Interest rate on loans.—In no case shall the rate of interest on any loan made pursuant to this chapter be less than the rate of interest paid by the Commonwealth on the general obligation bonds or notes issued pursuant to this chapter from which funds were obtained for the loan

except when that rate of interest would exceed the maximum permissible rate of interest under the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended. and the regulations promulgated thereunder so as to cause the general obligation bonds issued pursuant to this chapter to be deemed arbitrage bonds pursuant to section 103(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder. In such case the rate of interest on a loan shall be equal to the maximum rate of interest calculable under the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and regulations promulgated thereunder which will not cause the general obligation bonds and notes issued pursuant to this chapter to be deemed arbitrage bonds under the provisions of section 103(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and all regulations promulgated thereunder. In the case of loans initially funded from the proceeds of notes and subsequently funded from renewal notes and bonds, the interest rate to be charged on the loans shall be established in accordance with the provisions of this subsection upon the sale of bonds or notes, as the case may be, for the loans.

- (f) Disposition of loan repayments and interest.—All loan repayments, payments of interest on loans made by the board or proceeds shall be transmitted to the State Treasurer for deposit into the General Fund of the Commonwealth.
- § 7510. Apportionment and appropriation of funds.
- (a) Apportionment of funds.—The General Assembly hereby apportions funds derived from the sale of water project bonds and deposited in the Water Facilities Loan Fund as follows:
 - (1) An apportionment of no less than \$220,000,000 is hereby appropriated from the Water Facilities Loan Fund for loans to repair, construct, reconstruct, rehabilitate, extend or improve community water supply systems including repair, reconstruction and rehabilitation of water supply dams and piping and distribution systems.
 - (2) An apportionment of no more than \$40,000,000 is hereby appropriated from the Water Facilities Loan Fund for loans to repair, reconstruct or rehabilitate flood control facilities and dams, other than water supply dams covered under paragraph (1).
 - (3) An apportionment of no more than \$40,000,000 is hereby appropriated from the Water Facilities Loan Fund for loans to repair, reconstruct and rehabilitate port facilities. Any funds not committed, obligated or expended for this purpose within five years of the effective date of this chapter shall lapse and be automatically reappropriated to increase the amount available for community water supply systems projects.
- (b) Lapse of certain appropriations.—Ten years after the effective date of this chapter, all funds appropriated in subsection (a) which are not committed, obligated or expended shall lapse into the Water Facilities Loan Fund for transfer to the Water Facilities Loan Redemption Fund.

- § 7511. Limits on project funding.
- (a) General rule.—In order to distribute limited loan funds among the maximum number of eligible projects and to encourage use of Commonwealth loan funds to attract and match other sources of financing, the following limits on project funds are hereby imposed:
 - (1) For water facility projects with eligible costs of \$500,000 or less, the Commonwealth loan program is authorized to fund up to 100% of project costs.
 - (2) For water facility projects with eligible costs between \$500,000 and \$1,000,000, up to \$500,000 in project costs is eligible for funding by the Commonwealth loan program.
 - (3) For water facility projects with eligible costs exceeding \$1,000,000, the Commonwealth loan program is limited to financing up to 50% of eligible project costs and the maximum loan for any one project shall not exceed \$5,000,000.
 - (4) No more than 65% of the \$40,000,000 amount appropriated for loans to port projects may be committed or expended for one or more projects in any one port.
- (b) Factors to be considered.—In determining the amount of funding to be allocated to a project within the limits set forth in this section, the Water Facilities Loan Board shall consider the factors enumerated in sections 7514 (relating to application requirements and criteria for obtaining loan) and 7515 (relating to priorities for loans).
- § 7512. Costs eligible for loan financing.
- (a) General rule.—The following costs of approved projects may be considered eligible for financing through the Commonwealth loan program:
 - (1) Feasibility and planning studies commenced after June 1, 1981.
 - (2) Financial condition and audit reports required for loan applications.
 - (3) Project design and engineering.
 - (4) Project construction (including site preparation) and inspection during construction.
 - (5) Permit fees.
 - (6) Insurance.
 - (7) Interest during construction or financing for the project and allowance for funds used during construction.
 - (8) Security bonds, necessary reserves and costs of establishing and securing the total financing arrangements for the project.
 - (9) Legal fees.
 - (10) Any other costs determined to be eligible in the rules and regulations of the board.
- (b) Unused funds.—Any funds advanced on any loan which are unused in the project shall be returned to the loan fund for reallocation and use in other projects.

- § 7513. Planning consultation and prefeasibility assessments.
- (a) Planning consultation.—Water facility operators and owners and appropriate municipal officials shall consult with the department early in the process of planning. Project sponsors and the department shall jointly review the problems in the affected area and in neighboring communities.
- (b) Prefeasibility assessments.—The department may assist water facility operators and owners and municipalities in preparing prefeasibility assessments. Prefeasibility assessments shall be undertaken by the applicant in consultation with the department to review related water facility problems in an area, identify the range of alternative solutions (including structural and nonstructural measures), screen the alternatives meriting detailed consideration and identify financial and institutional issues requiring consideration in projects planning. The purpose of the prefeasibility assessments is to assist project sponsors and the Water Facilities Loan Board in identifying the appropriate scope of projects meriting detailed consideration and the preparation of feasibility studies preparatory to a loan application.
- § 7514. Application requirements and criteria for obtaining loan.
- (a) Application requirements.—Applicants for water facility loans shall submit the following information to the Water Facilities Loan Board:
 - (1) A description, plan and cost estimates for the project, including (where necessary) a feasibility study explaining the alternatives assessed and reasons for selecting the proposed project and documenting the organizational and financial as well as engineering aspects of the proposed project.
 - (2) Information for assessing the effectiveness and priority of the project, including data regarding the problem to be solved by the project and the role of the proposed project in regard to related problems experienced in the water facilities aided by the loan.
 - (3) A financial statement prepared by a public accountant of the current and projected financial status of the applicant.
 - (4) An organization and financial plan for the project, including:
 - (i) The total financial package for the project and arrangements for other loans or grants necessary to finance the project.
 - (ii) The institutional and financial arrangements to be taken to assure repayment of the Commonwealth loan and other obligations relating to the project (such as rate increases, sinking funds and reserve accounts).
 - (iii) The steps to be taken to assure proper long-term operation and maintenance of the water facilities aided by the loan.
 - (5) A certification that the applicant can reasonably be expected to repay the loan from existing or reasonably anticipated revenues.
 - (6) A certification that the applicant shall, in every contract for the construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, improvement or maintenance of any water facility, comply with the provisions of the act of

- March 3, 1978 (P.L.6, No.3), known as the "Steel Products Procurement Act."
- (7) Any other information required by the board relating to the proposed project.
- (b) Criteria for obtaining loan.—In reviewing applicants for eligibility to receive a loan, the board shall consider:
 - (1) Whether the project will improve the health, safety or economic well-being of the people of this Commonwealth.
 - (2) Whether the proposed project will lead to an effective or complete solution to the problems experienced in the water facilities to be aided.
 - (3) The cost-effectiveness of the proposed project in comparison with other alternatives (including other institutional, financial and physical alternatives).
 - (4) The consistency of the proposed project with the State Water Plan and other State and regional resource management and economic development plans.
 - (5) Whether the applicant has demonstrated credit-worthiness including the ability of the applicant to repay the loan and to operate and maintain the project in a proper manner over the life of the loan.
 - (6) The availability of other sources of funds at reasonable rates to finance all or a portion of the project and the need for a Commonwealth loan to finance the project or to attract the other sources of funding.
- § 7515. Priorities for loans.
- (a) Community water supply systems.—For community water supply system loans, priorities shall be determined based on factors which include, but are not limited to:
 - (1) Benefits to public health.
 - (2) Benefits to public safety.
 - (3) Improvement in the ability of an applicant to come into compliance with State and Federal statutes, regulations and standards.
 - (4) Improvement in the adequacy or efficiency of the community water supply system.
 - (5) The cost-effectiveness of the project.
 - (6) The contribution to and impact of the project on economic, social and environmental values.
- (b) Flood control facilities.—For flood control facility loans, priorities shall be determined based on factors which include, but are not limited to:
 - (1) Correction of hazardous or unsafe conditions.
 - (2) Benefits to improvement of public safety.
 - (3) Improvement in the ability of the applicant to come into compliance with State and Federal statutes, regulations and standards.
 - (4) The cost-effectiveness of the project.
 - (5) The contribution to and impact of the project on social, economic or environmental values.

(c) Port facilities.—For port facility loans, priorities shall be determined based on factors which include, but are not limited to:

- (1) Benefits to public health and safety.
- (2) Preservation of adequate transportation in the area.
- (3) Benefits to long-term preservation and improvement of employment in the area.
 - (4) Benefits to economic development in the area.
- (5) Attraction of private investment in preservation and development of the area.
- (6) Effectiveness of the project in carrying out regional port development plans and other State, regional and local economic development and community conservation plans.
- (7) The contribution to and impact of the project on economic, social and environmental values.
- § 7516. Implementation of project.

The Water Facilities Loan Board shall review, consider and approve the means by which a project sponsor intends to carry out a project being financed with loan funds in order to assure that the project will be implemented in a cost-effective fashion and quality standards for the work are met.

- § 7517. Supervision of project and security from default.
- (a) Inspection of project and records.—The applicant shall allow the Water Facilities Loan Board and its successors, agents and representatives the right at all reasonable times during construction and after completion of the project to enter upon and inspect the project and to examine and make copies of the applicant's books, records, accounting data and other documents pertaining to the project and the financial condition of the applicant.
- (b) Independent audits.—The applicant may be required by the board or its agent to have prepared independent audits of its financial documents and conditions and submit a certified copy of the audits to the board.
- (c) Security for loan.—The loan shall be secured by agreements, mortgages or other security instruments as the board finds necessary and adequate to secure the loan. The board and its successors may use any procedure or remedy available under any other existing or future laws for the protection of creditors.
- (d) Default on community water supply systems projects.—In the event of a default on repayment of a loan for a community water supply system project, the board or its successors may apply to the court of common pleas of the county where the project is located to have a receiver appointed to assume operation and supervision of the water supply system. The receiver shall collect the revenues and disburse funds to pay operating costs and loan obligations under the supervision of the court. Receivership shall continue until the default is cured and regular repayments established or the board and court determine to reorganize the water system or sell its assets and turn over operations to another entity.

§ 7518. Expedited approval of rate relief.

For the limited and special purpose of ensuring repayment of principal and interest on loans made pursuant to this chapter, the Public Utility Commission shall approve such security issues, affiliated interest agreements and rate increase requests by applicants that are regulated utilities as are necessary and appropriate. For this purpose, the Public Utility Commission shall establish such expedited practices, procedures and policies as necessary to facilitate and accomplish repayment of the loans. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as to require approval of rate increases greater than that necessary to accomplish the repayment of loans made pursuant to this chapter.

Section 2. All acts or parts of acts inconsistent herewith are repealed to the extent of the inconsistency.

Section 3. This act shall take effect immediately.

APPROVED-The 22nd day of June, A. D. 1982.

DICK THORNBURGH